IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC01-103

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE, et al.

Petitioners,

v.

CHARLES DIXON, JR., et al.

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE'S CORRECTED BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD A. MULLANEY GENERAL COUNSEL

TRACEY I. ARPEN, JR. Deputy General Counsel Florida Bar No. 154493
THERESA R. MATCHETT Assistant General Counsel Florida Bar No. 361038
117 W. Duval St.; Ste. 480
Jacksonville, FL 32202
(904) 630-1700
Attorneys for Petitioners, City of Jacksonville, et al.

EDWARDS & COHEN, P.A.

KARL J. SANDERS
Florida Bar No. 0028452
The Greenleaf Building

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court has accepted jurisdiction to review the decision below on the basis of an asserted conflict with this Court's previously expressed views on both the proper scope of "strict scrutiny" review of local land use decisions and the long-recognized deference accorded to an agency's interpretation of a law which it administers. Specifically, the City of Jacksonville maintains that the district court misapplied the "strict scrutiny" standard of review announced by this Court in Board of County Commissioners v. Snyder, 627 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 1993), by concluding that it extends to a local government's interpretation of the terms of its Comprehensive Plan for future development and, moreover, authorizes a *de novo* review – *at the district court level* – of the lower court's factual finding of consistency.

The issues presented below were two-fold. The threshold issue concerned an interpretation of the language *of the Plan itself*; namely, whether a hotel is an allowable land use in the "Residential/Professional/Institutional" commercial land use category of the City of Jacksonville's Comprehensive Plan. (City's App. B at 6-7). The City's Director of Planning and Development interpreted the terms of the Plan to mean that such a use could, under the appropriate circumstances, be

permissible. (City's App. E). The trial court agreed, refusing to second-guess the City's general interpretation of its own Plan. (City's App. B at 6-10).

The second issue dealt with the terms of the *development order*; that is, whether the specific development approved by the City's rezoning decision was consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. (City's App. B at 10). Pursuant to the directives of Section 163.3215, Fla. Stat., the trial court presided over a *de novo* trial on this issue. Upon completion of a three-day bench trial consisting of testimony elicited from both the parties and their competing experts as to the consistency of the subject development order with the goals, objectives and policies of the City's Comprehensive Plan, the trial judge found that the rezoning was, in fact, consistent with the City's Plan and therefore denied the request for injunctive relief. (City's App. B at 10-18).

On appeal, however, the First District concluded that the issue of consistency was a pure question of law that is reviewable *de novo*, subject to a "strict scrutiny" standard of review that accords no deference to the local government's interpretation of the terms of its Comprehensive Plan. <u>Dixon v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 774 So. 2d 763, 764-65 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). Thus, the district court reasoned, this "strict scrutiny" standard of review was not limited to a determination of whether competent substantial evidence supported the trial court's

finding of consistency. <u>Id.</u> Rather, according to the district court, strict scrutiny review also applied to the meaning of the Plan itself, thereby allowing the district court to substitute its interpretation for that of the City's Planning Director, the City Council and the trial judge. <u>Id.</u>

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The underlying facts giving rise to this appeal stemmed from the attempts of Charles Dixon, Jr. and Charles Dixon, III – neighboring landowners to a commercial parcel which was rezoned from "Commercial Office" to "Planned Unit Development" – to enjoin the implementation of the rezoning ordinance on grounds that it was inconsistent with the City of Jacksonville's 2010 Comprehensive Plan. (City's App. B at 1-4). The proposed development consisted of a mix of both commercial and office uses – including a hotel – situated on a parcel with a designated land use classification of Residential/Professional/Institutional ("RPI"), one of five commercial land use categories set forth in the City's Comprehensive Plan. (City's App. B at 5-6; City's App. C; City's App. D).

The Dixon's fundamental objection to the development was their contention that the City's Comprehensive Plan did not expressly authorize the siting of a hotel in the RPI land use category. (City's App. B at 5-6). The person charged with exclusive authority for interpreting the City's Comprehensive Plan, however, disagreed. (City's App. B at 7; City's App. E).

A. The Interpretation

Prior to the City Council's consideration of the landowner's rezoning request, the City's Director of Planning and Development (the "Director") issued a written interpretation concluding that the development of a hotel was within the range of potentially permissible uses in the RPI commercial land use category. (City's App. E; City's App. F at 41; Tr. Vol. IV at 533-76). In determining *how* to interpret the City's Comprehensive Plan, the Director looked to the terms of the Plan itself, which provide:

Each [land use] category has a range of potentially permissible uses, *which are not exhaustive*, but are intended to be illustrative of the character of uses permitted.

(City's App. E; City's App. F at 41) (emphasis added).

The Director then looked to various textual provisions of the City's Plan and concluded that the RPI land use category did not categorically exclude the development of a hotel. Rather, the mix of land uses included in the RPI category is *flexible* and consists of up to fifty percent commercial use; therefore, so long as the commercial development did not exceed fifty percent of the total land area, a hotel could be a permissible commercial use in RPI, so long as the specific development is consistent with the goals, objectives and policies of the Comprehensive Plan and all applicable land development regulations. (City's App. E; City's App. F at 46).

Once the Director opined that the development of a hotel was within the range of potentially permissible uses in the RPI commercial land use category, the proposed rezoning was ripe for review by the City Council for a determination of its overall consistency with the Comprehensive Plan. After a series of public hearings, seventeen of the eighteen City Council members voted to approve the rezoning, concluding that it was, in fact, consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and that it complied with all procedural requirements of the City's zoning ordinance. (City's App. G; Tr. Vol. IV at 576).

B. The *De Novo* Circuit Court Proceeding

Subsequent to the City's approval of the PUD rezoning request, the Dixons filed suit in the circuit court pursuant to Section 163.3215, Fla. Stat., which sets forth a cause of action for challenging a "development order" as being inconsistent with the local government's comprehensive plan for future development. Specifically, the Dixons maintained that the approved development was inconsistent with seventeen separate provisions of its 2010 Comprehensive Plan.

For three days, the parties presented the testimony of their respective experts as to the consistency of the subject development order with the goals, objectives and policies of the City's 2010 Comprehensive Plan. After thoroughly considering the various goals, policies, and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan, and having

compared them to the subject development order and the evidence regarding the site as finally adopted, the trial judge ultimately found that the rezoning was, in fact, consistent with the City's Comprehensive Plan and therefore denied the Dixons' request for injunctive relief. (City's App. B at 10-17; Vol. I at 161, 177).

Notably, in his decision, the circuit court judge refused to second-guess the Director's interpretation of the City's Comprehensive Plan:

Having considered the foregoing extracts [of the Comprehensive Plan] and the City's evidence of similar PUDs which have included uses not specifically listed in the overall land use category, the Court cannot disagree with the City's general interpretation of its own plan that a hotel can be an acceptable use within a PUD in an area designated RPI....

(City's App. B at 10; Vol. I at 169).

Instead, the circuit court assessed the *evidence* presented and analyzed whether the subject PUD, as approved, was consistent with the City's Comprehensive Plan. For example, the court concluded – "*from the evidence*" – that:

the proposed PUD is compatible with the overall character of the larger area in which this site . . . is located, as well as what appears to be the proposed future development of this area. The Court also notes that *the evidence* establishes that the PUD, as approved, provides for less than 50 percent of commercial use and less than 70 percent of office use on the site.

. . . .

From the evidence, the Court concludes that the PUD in question has been appropriately detailed, that it is a designated secondary use for this site, and that it is consistent with the functional land use classification.

(City's App. B at 9-10; Vol. I at 169) (emphasis added).

In effect, the circuit court properly considered the proceeding to be a *de novo* review of the *facts* relevant to the consistency of the proposed development with the City's Comprehensive Plan. The First District Court of Appeal, however, saw things differently.

C. The *De Novo* District Court Review

Rejecting the City's argument that deference should be given to the City's interpretation of its own Comprehensive Plan, the First District characterized the consistency issue as a pure question of law that is reviewable *de novo* pursuant to a "strict scrutiny" standard of review:

We cannot agree with the City's argument that the standard [of review] is only one of determining whether there was competent and substantial evidence, which is far more deferential than that which we apply *infra*.

. . . .

Because we conclude that the issue before us is one that is "easily subject to examination for strict compliance with the plan," we apply the standard of strict scrutiny to resolve it, a process which involves a detailed examination of the development order for exact compliance with, or adherence to, the comprehensive plan. We reject, moreover, the City's argument that deference should be given

to the City's interpretation of a law which it administers, thereby requiring its approval so long as its construction falls within the range of possible interpretations. We are instead presented with a question which is purely one of law, and we are not constrained by more deferential standards from substituting our judgment for that of the lower tribunal.

Dixon v. City of Jacksonville, 774 So. 2d 763, 764-65 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

Thus, rather than assess the evidentiary basis for the trial court's finding of consistency, the district court simply re-interpreted the City's Comprehensive Plan to conclude that a hotel was *not* an allowable land use in the RPI land use category under *any* circumstances because it was not expressly enumerated as a permissible use. Therefore, the First District reasoned, the trial judge committed reversible error by virtue of its decision to embrace the City's interpretation of its own Comprehensive Plan. In effect, the district court's opinion concludes that the evidence adduced at trial was neither relevant nor necessary to a determination of whether the development order was consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although the First District's decision correctly notes that the issue of consistency is subject to "strict scrutiny" review, it erroneously concludes that this

equates to a *de novo* review of the lower court's finding of consistency, which it characterized as a pure question of law. As evidenced by the decisions of every other district court of appeal which has expressly considered this issue, however, the issue of consistency invariably entails a question of law *as applied* to a particular set of facts, given the unique nature of any given parcel of realty and its associated land uses. In other words, consistency is a question of fact, not law.

"Strict scrutiny" review of quasi-judicial land use decisions does not displace the long-recognized deference that this Court has accorded to an agency's interpretation of a law that it administers. A local government's interpretation of the terms of its comprehensive plan is entirely separate and distinct from the fact-specific analysis employed in determining whether a proposed rezoning is consistent with that plan. The former is a question of law, while the latter is one of fact. As such, the strict scrutiny standard of review does not apply; rather, the interpretation should be accorded due deference and remain undisturbed unless shown to be "clearly erroneous."

The need for flexibility in the application and interpretation of a local government's comprehensive land use plan is indispensable to its continued viability. Comprehensive plans have been likened to "constitutions" for local land use development. As such, the very nature of a comprehensive plan demands that

it be given a broad-based application to address a wide range of fact-specific circumstances. The district court below, however, improperly assumed the role of a "roving super agency," effectively rewriting selective portions of the City's Comprehensive Plan to transform a nonexclusive list of permissible uses into a purportedly exclusive list.

In short, the expansive scope of review employed by the First District below has significant implications for local governments throughout the State. Left undisturbed, the decision will undoubtedly engender confusion and further conflict over the respective roles of local governments and the courts in administering and interpreting local land use laws.

ARGUMENT

ALTHOUGH THE "STRICT SCRUTINY" STANDARD OF REVIEW APPLIES IN A DE NOVO PROCEEDING CHALLENGING THE CONSISTENCY OF A DEVELOPMENT ORDER WITH THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT'S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, IT HAS NO APPLICATION TO THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT'S INTERPRETATION OF THE LANGUAGE OF THE PLAN ITSELF.

In 1985, the Florida legislature established a statutory mandate directing all local governments to adopt, implement and adhere to a comprehensive plan for land use. Ch. 86-55, Laws of Fla. In particular, the Growth Management Act requires that every land use decision of local government must be "consistent" with the goals, objectives and policies of its comprehensive plan. § 163.3194, Fla. Stat. (2000). Under the Act, a development order is deemed consistent with comprehensive plan where:

the land uses, densities or intensities, and other aspects of development permitted by such order . . . are compatible with and further the objectives, policies, land uses, and densities or intensities in the comprehensive plan, and if it meets all other criteria enumerated by the local government.

§ 163.3194(3), Fla. Stat. (2000).

Soon after the implementation of this consistency mandate, the courts began to re-examine the traditional characterization of local zoning decisions as purely legislative acts subject to a "fairly debatable" standard of review. The seminal decision in this regard originated not in Florida, but in Oregon. As aptly summarized by one of the leading commentators on Florida land use law:

The Oregon Supreme Court in Fasano v Board of County Commissioners, 507 P.2d 23 (1973), represents the leading example of judicially-mandated reform. The Fasano court relied upon a provision in that state's traditional zoning and planning enabling act that zoning be "in accordance with" a comprehensive plan. Citing this requirement, the Fasano court held that the comprehensive plan was the principal legislative policy statement, that the zoning of property involved the application of that legislative policy to a specific rezoning request, and that therefore zoning decisions should be viewed as quasi-judicial rather than legislative acts. Accordingly, in Fasano the Oregon Supreme Court imposed new procedural requirements on local governments and held that such local zoning decisions would be subjected to much stricter scrutiny than was afforded by the traditional fairly debatable rule. Subsequently, a number of other state supreme courts adopted some version of the Fasano approach.

Thomas G. Pelham, *Quasi-Judicial Rezonings: A Commentary on the Snyder Decision and the Consistency Requirement*, 9 J. Land Use & Envtl. L. 243, 248-49 (1994).

In 1993, this Court followed suit, abandoning the traditional "fairly debatable" standard of review in favor of the less deferential review of "strict scrutiny. Board of County Commissioners of Broward County v. Snyder, 627 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 1993). What this Court did *not* do, however, is transform the issue of consistency into a pure question of law.

A. Consistency is a question of fact, not law; the issue, therefore, is whether competent substantial evidence supports a finding of consistency.

Section 163.3215 of the Growth Management Act sets forth the procedures by which a third party may challenge a development order¹ approved by the local government as inconsistent with the comprehensive plan:

Any aggrieved or adversely affected party may maintain an action for injunctive or other relief against any local government to prevent such local government from taking any action on a development order, as defined in § 163.3164, which materially alters the use or density or intensity of use on a particular piece of property that is not consistent with the comprehensive plan adopted under this part.

§ 163.3215, Fla. Stat. (2001).

Contrary to the conclusion of the district court below, this *proceeding* (not the standard of review) is *de novo*. That is, the aggrieved third-party is entitled to a *de novo* evidentiary hearing and is not confined to the record established before the local government. See Poulos v. Martin County, 700 So. 2d 163 (Fla. 4h DCA 1997). The test is one of "competent substantial evidence." See Machado v. Musgrove, 519 So. 2d 629, 632 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). That is, the circuit court strictly scrutinizes the proposed development against the relevant objectives and

¹ The Act defines a "development order" as "any order granting, denying or granting with conditions an application for a development permit (*e.g.*, the approval of a PUD rezoning request). § 163.3164, Fla. Stat. (2000).

policies of the local comprehensive plan to determine whether there is competent and substantial evidence to support a finding of consistency. <u>Id</u>. The circuit court does this by presiding over a *de novo* trial on the issue of consistency. The court hears evidence, weighs the credibility of competing witnesses and makes findings of fact concerning the development's consistency with the various goals, objectives and policies of the local government's comprehensive plan. This is precisely the approach taken by the circuit court below.

On appeal, the district court correctly stated the appropriate standard of review as one of strict scrutiny. It erroneously *applied* that standard, however, by assuming the role of the trial court and conducting its *own* determination of consistency *de novo* by declaring it to be a pure question of law. This analysis completely distorts the scope of "strict scrutiny" review announced by this Court in <u>Snyder</u> and applied by the other district courts of appeal in reviewing consistency challenges brought pursuant to Section 163.3215.

In <u>Snyder</u>, this Court re-evaluated the traditional standard of review employed by the courts in examining local zoning decisions and embraced the application of a "strict scrutiny" standard of review. <u>Id.</u> This Court then went on to define the parameters of this standard of review, carefully distinguishing it from

the type of strict scrutiny afforded in certain constitutional cases. According to this Court:

In practical effect, the review by strict scrutiny in zoning cases appears to be the same as that given in the review of other quasi-judicial decisions. *See Lee County v. Sunbelt Equities, II, Ltd. Partnership*, 619 So.2d 996 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) (The term "strict scrutiny" arises from the necessity of strict compliance with comprehensive plan.).

Id. at 475.

This "review of other quasi-judicial decisions," of course, is limited to a examination of whether competent substantial evidence supports the decision of the lower tribunal, as can be seen in the opinions of both the Fourth and Third District Courts of Appeal that squarely addressed the issue of "strict scrutiny" review in the context of a Section 163.3215 consistency challenge.²

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