IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC01-103

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE, et al.

Petitioners,

v.

CHARLES DIXON, JR., et al.

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAUL M. HARDEN Florida Bar No.: 192557 1301 Riverplace Boulevard Suite 2601 Jacksonville, FL 32207 (904) 396-5731 (904) 399-5461 facsimile Attorney for Respondents

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

In determining the appropriate standard of review for consistency challenges, the Fourth District noted that "[t]he enactment of the comprehensive statutory scheme manifests a clear legislative intent to mandate intelligent, uniformed growth management throughout the state in accord with the statutory scheme. This purpose cannot be achieved without meaningful judicial review in lawsuits brought under the planning act." Southwest Ranchers Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Broward County, 502 So. 2d 931, 936 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). Where a zoning authority approves a land use more intensive than the proposed plan, the long-term expectations for growth under the plan have been exceeded. Id. at 936. Therefore, review by the courts, including review by the appellate court, must subject the decision of the zoning authority to "strict scrutiny." Id.; Board of County Comm'rs of Broward County v. Snyder, 627 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 1993) (adopting strict scrutiny standard of review).

In determining what this "strict scrutiny" standard of review requires in matters involving purely questions of law, the definition of strict scrutiny adopted by the courts and applied by the First DCA in the case at bar provides clear guidance. In the opinion below, the First DCA noted the strict scrutiny standard of review adopted by this Court as follows:

The test in reviewing a challenge to a zoning action on grounds that a proposed project is inconsistent with the comprehensive plan is whether the zoning authority's determination that a proposed development conforms to each element of the land use plan is supported by competent and substantial evidence. The traditional strict judicial scrutiny applies.

Strict scrutiny is not defined in land use cases which use the phrase, but its meaning can be ascertained from common definition of the separate words. Strict scrutiny implies a rigid exactness, or precision. A thing scrutinized has been subject to minute investigation. Strict scrutiny is thus a process whereby a court makes a detailed examination of a statute, rule or order of a tribunal for exact compliance with or adherence to a standard or norm. It is the antithesis of deferential review.

(Opinion at 3) (citing Machado, 519 So. 2d at 632).

Based on this definition, in cases involving interpretations of the underlying regulations it is evident that judicial review should employ a "process whereby a court makes a detailed examination of a statute, rule or order of a tribunal for exact compliance with or adherence to a standard or norm". Machado, 519 So. 2d at 632. To that end, in an earlier and similar case involving another erroneous interpretation of the City of Jacksonville's Comprehensive Plan, the First DCA noted:

Under such circumstances, the explanation offered by the

local body for concluding that the project is consistent with the plan, despite suggestions to the contrary in the language of the plan itself, should not simply be accepted at face value. It should instead be carefully examined in light of the language of the plan, with regard to whether the local government's rationale can be reconciled with the provisions of the plan.

B.B. McCormick & Sons, Inc. v. City of Jacksonville, 559 So. 2d 252, 257 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). This is precisely the standard of review applied by the First DCA:

We cannot agree the City's argument that the standard [of review] is <u>only</u> one of determining whether there was competent and substantial evidence. . . .

Because we conclude that the issue before us is one that is 'easily subject to examination for strict compliance with the comprehensive plan,' we apply the standard of strict scrutiny to resolve it, a process which involves a detailed examination of the development order for exact compliance with, or adherence to, the Comprehensive Plan.

(Opinion at 4) (emphasis added).

In an attempt to limit this strict scrutiny standard of review, the City relies upon the unfounded assumption that consistency is a question of fact, not law. As such, the City argues that the strict scrutiny standard of review limits the appellate court to reviewing the record to determine whether the trial court's decision is supported by competent and substantial evidence. (City Brief at 16). In support, the City cites several cases involving consistency challenges based on questions of fact. (City Brief at 16-19). For example, the City cites the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in Southwest Ranchers Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. and notes that "[a]lthough the Fourth Circuit [stat] employed strict scrutiny review, it nevertheless concluded that 'the factual findings of the trial court should be accorded great

weight." (City Brief at 20) (quoting from <u>Southwest Ranchers Homeowners</u> <u>Association, Inc.</u>, 502 So. 2d at 938 (emphasis added)).

Indeed, the City is correct in summarizing the doctrine that strict scrutiny prevents appellate courts from reweighing evidence and requires courts to give great weight to the <u>factual findings</u> of trial courts. (City Brief at 17). This doctrine and the underlying case law, however, do <u>not</u> deal with the issue in this matter, specifically the interpretation of a clear, plain provision of the Comprehensive Plan where there is no factual dispute.

As discussed above, not all consistency challenges involve questions of fact. Accordingly, the strict scrutiny standard of review cannot be limited only to determining whether there is competent and substantial evidence to support the decision of the lower tribunal. Such competent and substantial evidence may be necessary to support factual determinations, but is of no import in legal interpretations as questions of law. Where the issue is purely one of law, there is no need for an appellate court to review the record for competent and substantial evidence. Contrary to the City's arguments, the First DCA did not reweigh evidence or disturb factual findings of the court below. Rather, the First DCA made a de novo review of a question of law, the interpretation of the Comprehensive Plan, and correctly applied the strict scrutiny standard of review adopted by this Court in Snyder.

Similarly, the FHBA argues that the de novo review applied by the First DCA creates a different standard of review for challenges brought by an aggrieved party under Florida Statutes Section 163.3215 and challenges brought by a developer on

a local government's denial of a rezoning request under common law writ of certiorari. (FHBA Brief at 14-16). To that end, the FHBA argues that, in certiorari review of a city's denial of a zoning request, the Circuit Court is limited to determining whether the development order is supported by competent and substantial evidence and must give deference to the local interpretation of the regulations at issue. Conversely, according to the FHBA, the First DCA's opinion indicates that, in a challenge brought pursuant to Section 163.3215, the Circuit Court may conduct a de novo review and substitute its judgment for that of the governmental body without regard to the competent and substantial evidence produced below.

Again, however, it is important to note that the First DCA opinion is limited to a question of law, the interpretation of clear and unambiguous comprehensive plan provisions. In such instances, the First DCA correctly held that the standard of review is not <u>only</u> one of determining whether competent and substantial evidence supports the City's interpretation of the Comprehensive Plan. (Opinion at 2). Rather, the Court may substitute its opinion for that of the City or lower court and rule, as a matter of law, that the lower courts interpretation was erroneous.

This is the same standard that applies in certiorari challenges to a City's denial of a development order based solely on a question of law. See, e.g., Windward Marina, 743 So. 2d 635 (conducting de novo review and reversing lower court's and City's interpretation of comprehensive plan as a matter of law). Therefore, the standard of review is equivalent whether a proceeding is brought by an affected party pursuant to Chapter 163 or by a developer under common law

certiorari. Where the issue is one of fact, the courts must review the record for competent and substantial evidence to support the City's determination. Where the issue is purely one of law, both processes permit a de novo review of the lower court's or City's decision subject to the non-deferential strict scrutiny standard of review.

III. Only where the comprehensive plan is ambiguous should the more deferential, clearly erroneous standard of review apply.

Contrary to the well-established rules of statutory construction, the opponents argue that the role of the judiciary in interpreting comprehensive plans should be severely limited. Specifically, the City argues "[i]n accordance with the long-standing principles of deference due to agency interpretations of the law in which they are charged with administering, a local government's interpretation of its own comprehensive plan should not be interfered with by the courts unless 'clearly erroneous.'" (City Brief at 19). In support, the City relies upon a well-established rule of statutory construction – the doctrine of contemporaneous construction.

This doctrine, however, is irrelevant where the statutory provisions in question are clear and unambiguous. See, e.g. Houghton v. Payne, 194 U.S. 88, 100 (1904) ("it is well settled that it is only where the language of the statute is ambiguous and susceptible of two reasonable interpretations that weight is given to the doctrine of contemporaneous construction."); Andrews v. Borden Co., 143 So. 2d 556, 558 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962)(same).

As discussed above, the same rules that are applied in the construction of state statutes are employed in the construction of comprehensive plans and other local ordinances. See, e.g., Rinker Materials Corp., 286 So. 2d 536. To that end,

the rules of statutory construction provide that statutes must be given their <u>plain</u> and <u>obvious</u> meaning. <u>Id.</u> at 553. Accordingly, where the words used in an act are <u>unambiguous</u> and clearly express the legislative intent, no other rules of construction or interpretation are necessary or warranted. <u>Id.</u>; (Fla. Bar Brief at 4). As noted by the Florida Bar, this Court agreed with this approach and held that "[w]hen interpreting a statute, courts must determine the legislative intent from the plain meaning of the statue. If the language of the statue is clear and unambiguous, a court must derive legislative intent from the words used <u>without involving rules of construction or speculating as to what the legislature intended</u>." <u>State v. Dugan</u>, 685 So. 2d 1210, 1212 (Fla. 1996); (Fla. Bar Brief at 4).

In accordance with these principles, the First DCA held that the language of the Comprehensive Plan was unambiguous and, therefore, the plain meaning of the statute controlled. "We reject, moreover, the City's argument that deference should be given to the City's interpretation of law which it administers, thereby requiring its approval so long as its construction falls within the range of possible interpretations. . . . We are <u>not</u> of the view that the City's 2010 Comprehensive Plan is <u>ambiguous</u>, thereby making it susceptible to different interpretations." (Opinion at 4-5). Rather, as required by the well-established rules of statutory construction, the First DCA interpreted the Comprehensive Plan provisions in question based on the plain and obvious meaning of the language used. The First DCA noted "[i]t is <u>obvious</u> from a <u>plain reading</u> of the above passage that the commercial portion of the mix permits only commercial uses otherwise allowable in the RPI, which, as stated, neither expressly nor by reasonable implication allows hotels." (Opinion at

7).

In arguing for a more deferential standard of review, the opponents ignore the clear holding of the First DCA. The FHBA argues that "[i]f there is no clear <u>inconsistency</u> with the comprehensive plan, the governmental body's interpretation should be given deference if its rational can be reconciled with the plan as a whole." (FHBA Brief at 13) (emphasis added). Similarly, the City notes that "[i]f a Comprehensive Plan or zoning ordinance is capable of being interpreted in two or more different ways, it is error for a court not to give the zoning authorities' interpretation deference over its own view." (City Brief at 23) (citing St. Johns County v. Owings, 554 So. 2d 535, 543 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) (Sharp, J., dissenting) (emphasis added)). Here, the First DCA held there was a clear inconsistency with the Comprehensive Plan and, therefore, the Court was not required to give deference to the City's interpretation. The language of the First DCA opinion is specific in this respect, "we are not of the view that the City's 2010 Comprehensive Plan is ambiguous, thereby making it susceptible to different interpretations." (Opinion at 5). Therefore, the First DCA properly rejected the City's interpretation of the Comprehensive Plan and applied the plain meaning to the language used in the Comprehensive Plan.

The opponents are essentially arguing for a general rule over-riding the strict scrutiny threshold level of review adopted by this Court and requiring deference to an agency's interpretation of the comprehensive plan, even where the plan is clear and unambiguous. In support, the opponents allege that the traditional deference provided to the City's interpretations of the zoning code under the "fairly

debatable" standard of review remained intact after the adoption of the "strict scrutiny" standard of review. (City Brief at 10) ("strict scrutiny' review of quasijudicial land use decisions does not displace the long-recognized deference that this court has accorded to an agency's interpretation of the law in which is administers."); (FHBA Brief at 11). The opponents argue that deference to the City's interpretation of the Comprehensive Plan is necessary due to the complex nature of comprehensive plans and the City's expertise in this area.

These arguments, however, are inconsistent with the rationale provided by the courts in adopting the "strict scrutiny" standard of review and the goals behind creating comprehensive plans. The intent behind adopting a "strict scrutiny" standard of review in land use decisions is clear - reduce the threshold level of deference due to local zoning authorities in reviewing zoning decisions. In adopting the strict scrutiny standard of review, this Court noted:

Historically, local governments have exercised the zoning power pursuant to a broad delegation of state legislative power subject only to constitutional limitations. Both federal and state courts adopted a highly deferential standard of judicial review early in the history of local zoning....

Inhibited only by the loose judicial scrutiny afforded by the fairly debatable rule, local zoning systems developed in a markedly inconsistent manner.

<u>Snyder</u>, 627 So. 2d at 472. Based on these concerns, this Court ruled that local zoning decisions were quasi-judicial in nature and subject to the "strict scrutiny" standard of review. In doing so, this Court rejected the traditional deference accorded to local agency's and instead, opted for a more exacting standard of review that is the "antithesis" of deferential review. Snyder, 627 So. 2d 469;

Machado, 519 So. 2d at 632 (noting that strict scrutiny "is the antithesis of deferential review.").

Despite the opponents' arguments to the contrary, there is no general rule over-riding the strict scrutiny level of review adopted by this Court in Snyder which requires deference to an agency's interpretation of the comprehensive plan in which is administers, especially where the language of the comprehensive plan is unambiguous. Although the rules of statutory construction, including the contemporaneous construction doctrine, may provide for additional deference to local agency's in certain instances, such rules are inapplicable in this case. All of the cases cited by the opponents involve cases in which the provisions in question are ambiguous or the court is forced to make a choice between conflicting provisions and local policy choices. In such instances, it may be appropriate for the Court to defer to the expertise of the City.

Where the language of the comprehensive plan is unambiguous, however, and there is no conflicting policies at issue, there is no need to resort to the expertise of the local government. Furthermore, as noted by the First DCA, the fact that the statute is complicated does not necessarily render the statute ambiguous such that the agency's technical expertise is necessary to interpret it. (Opinion at 4). Interpreting the plain language of the comprehensive plan is not an issue requiring deference to the City's expertise.

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